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Fig. 69 - River Bridge. 

Fig. 70 - Depot. 
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In addition to the farm items being shipped out, the 

economy of Potwin included a stone quarry north of the town 

site which was owned by William I. Joseph. The railroad 

built a spur to the quarry to handle large shipments of the 

stone. By 1888, a sUbstantial number of the buildings in 

the Newton business district were being built of stone from 

Potwin. 5 

Andy Patterson, a stone mason, used native stone to 

build a two-story school in 1886, replacing an earlier frame 

building which had eXisted on the sane site since 1873. J. 

D. Joseph, assisted by R. V. Smith, became the principal of 

the school. The school board consisted of R. B. Rand, 

Director; T. A. Bowyer, Clerk; and A. B. Ewing, Treasurer. 6 

Newspapers became an important segment in the town's 

communication in keeping the people informed of school 

events as well as other happenings. In 1885, Joseph M. 

Worley issued the first number of the Potwin Herald and con­

tinued to print the paper for a number of years. In 1887, 

the Potwin Messenger also competed with the Herald, but the 

Messenger was short :lived. In the mid-1880's, another paper 

outside the community, the Walnut Valley Times of El Dorado, 

inserted a line or two about its neighbor city of Potwin: 

5Smith, Ope cit .• p. 13.
 

6Smith.• 7vOc. Cv~t •
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"Potwin's mineral springs are creating qUite an excitement." 7 

The two-story brick Potwin BUilding at the corner of 

Randall and Marshall Streets was begun in 1885 by Charles W. 

Potwin and his son) C. A. Potwin (Figs. 71-72). The top 

floor was designed as a hall and was built to be used for 

community and church gatherings. Two divisions on the ground 

floor housed businesses for many years. The west side 

served as a drug store operated by G. W. and Ed Ball. Later 

this portion became a hardware and harness shop operated by 

Sam Cobb. The east part of the ground floor held a general 

store run by A. A. Rice) a native of Ohio. He traded a 

flock of sheep brought from Augusta to a merchant in Newton 

for a stock of goods to set up his trade. Upon his father's 

death in February of 1894) Frank A. Rice took OVer the 

. 8
b USlness. 

To further facilitate communications) a post office 

was opened on September 22) 1885; and) as the first post­

master) George M. Daffron used his store to house the new 

office. 9 Mr. Daffron lived in Plum Grove before moving to 

Potwin. J. E. Ball was acting postmaster in 1888-1889; 

Urban D. Poe succeeded him and held the position until Octo­

ber 16) 1893. When Daffron's building burned, the office 

7Walnut Valley Times, August 22-27, 1885. 

8Statement by Elsie H. Smith, personal interview. 

9Baughman, Ope cit.) p. 104. 



Fig. 72 - Potwin BUi1di~g. 1886. 

Fig. 71 - Potwin 2uildi~0 - Capstone. 
January, 1970. 
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was moved to the front of the Rice store, the east half of 

the Potwin Building. Sallis R. Joseph (Rice) was appointed 

and served from October 17, 1893, until July 26, 1897; her 

sister, Josephine Joseph (Cobb), became her assistant. On 

July 27, 1897, Sam E. Cobb (father of Mrs. Alf Landon) was 

appointed as postmaster and, consequently, moved the post 

office to the Cobb Hardware store in the west side of the 

Potwin BUilding. He held the position until December 31, 

101900. 

FolloWing the erection of the Potwin BUilding in 

1885-1886, other buildings began to spring up, and sales of 

merchandise took place before the last brick was laid or the 

last board nailed to the outside wall. Many businesses in 

addition to the Daffron store opened to serve the needs of 

the community during the remainder of the 1880's and 1890's. 

Like the businesses of Brainerd, some of these operations 

did not last long. Some of the owners and their businesses 

or occupations were as follows: 

John Morran, opened a hotel in 1887 
P. J. Graber, Potwin Mill, also farm implements 
Urban D. Poe, graceries 
C. U. Dumont, groceries and produce 
John Olinger, groceries 
Joseph Longstreth, groceries 
Ed and J. W. Ball, general merchandisers 
I. Howe, groceries 
McIntyre Lumber Yard, Richard Watkins, caretaker 

10Smith, Ope cit. I p. 11. 
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J. C. Olinger, hardware and coal 
Phillips Brothers, coal (The correspondent to the 

Walnut Valley Times on January 7, 1887, wrote about 
the coal suppliers of Potwin, "Between the two 
firms we generally freeze.") 

Green Adams, blacksmith 
W. W. Kemper, blacksmith (formerly at Plum Grove and 

Brainerd) 
James E. Chart, wagon shop (formerly owned by J. Cox) 
Mr. Graham, carpenter 
Dan Jones, carpenter 
E. E. Bell and I. Howe, notaries 
William I. Joseph, Justice of the Peace 
Len Phillips, agent for the Adams Express Company 
John Hopkins, feed mill (later run by G. E. Garri ­

son) 
J. W. Jennings, Central Hotel
 
Dr. Henry Smith, M. D.
 
Dr. Seaman, M. D.
 
J.	 Warren McLain, harness shOp (from Brainerd to 

Potwin in 1896, then ~oved to El Dorado) 
Sam E. CObb, hardware bought from the Ball Brothers 

(later moved to Burns, Kansas, to work in the bank) 
John Q. Ralph, lumber yard 
Charles Rand, hardware 
Walt Meredith, barber 
Ed Stahlnaker, livery stable 
Jake Ullum, livery stablell 

Churches played an important part in the lives of 

the people in the Potwin community. The second story of the 

Potwin Building was used for church services until houses of 

worship were built (Figs. 73-74). The Methodists first held 

church services in the parsonage moved from Plum GroVe in 

1885 to a site given by the Potwin family. But the building 

served both the Methodists and the Evangelicals on alternate 

Sundays. P. D. Lahr, James W. Pruen, Celia Graham, Ezra 

Ilsmith, Ope cit., pp. 13, 15, 16. 
Walnut Valley Times, January 7, 1887, p. 232. 
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Fig. 74 - Christian Church. 

• 

Fig. 73 - Met~odist Episcopal Church . 
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Corrie, and Peter C. Dilts were some of the early Methodist 

ministers. The Presbyterians worshipped in their own church 

building in Brainerd. In 1895, the Christian Church was 

organized and the members built a church that year, with the 

dedication in June of 1896. This building was also shared 

with the Evangelicals for several years. M. C. Snorf, one 

of the remaining residents of Brainerd, was an early member 

of the new Christian Church. The first service held in this 

church was the funeral of John Clawson. Interment for most 

of the deceased took place on the northwest edge of the town 

site in the Potwin Cemetery (Fig. 75), given to the town by 

12
William I. Joseph. 

Fig. 75 - Potwin Cemetery. 
January, 1970. 

12Smith, Ope cit., pp. 7, 9-11. 
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To meet the needs of the community) various social 

organizations eXisted. The Literary and Dramatics Club put 

on the play "Ten Nigh ts in a Barroom" in the spring of 1888. 

A chapter of the G. A. R. was organized) and the Modern 

Woodmen of America organized in November of 1892. 13 

Potwin) at the turn of the century) had a population 

of about 189 residents. The pleasantness and friendliness of 

neighbors) all facing pioneering hardships) resulted in com-. 

munity cohesion. Many people stayed and built better homes) 

established businesses) educated their children) and wor­

shipped together--giving the town stability. 

13Mooney) Ope cit. pp. 307-309. 
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Fig. 76 - Ox Team. 1912. 

Fig. 77 - Potwin - contemporary 
aerial view. Apri1 J 1970. 



SUMMARY 

To clarify the efforts of this study, the material 

is summarized to evaluate the evidence for the reader. The 

growth and development of northwest Butler County centered 

upon those people who established the towns of Plum Grove, 

Brainerd, Whitewater, and Potwin. These four towns were 

directly affected by the arrival of the first railroad facil­

ities in 1885, and influenced by the anticipated arrival of 

the second railroad in 1887. Comprised of sparsely settled 

rural areas involved in ranching and cereal and feed grain 

production, the towns of Brainerd, Whitewater, and Potwin 

served as farm marketing and service centers with railroad 

access to larger markets. The demise of Plum Grove seems to 

have been caused by its having no railroad connections to 

any other urban centers (page 32). 

Although Brainerd was well established, the arrival 

of the second railroad through Whitewater resulted in the 

majority of Brainerd's residents and their businesses moving 

to the town that offered greater economic promise. The 

movement of nearly all the people from Plum Grove to Brainerd 

and Potwin, then the exodus to Whitewater, found the busi­

nesses, schools, churches, and post offices all in a repeated 

condition of rootlessness. 

Some people have been traced in their migration from 

one west Butler County town to another; several have been 

traced out of the area. 



III 

Beginning with those who resided in Plum Grove, M. 

C. Snorf, clerk in the Lobdell store, moved to Brainerd and 

operated his own general store there. Later he moved to 

Whitewater to his new grocery store. Daniel M. Elder 

engaged in saw milling, after which he sold land in Butler 

County, concluding his bus~ness activities by operating a 

stone quarry east of El Dorado. After her role as a home­

maker, Mrs. John R. (Bertha) Wentworth taught school in 

Brainerd. Mrs. Mary Worline changed her occupation from 

running the Plum Grove Boarding House to operating a mil­

linery shop in Brainerd. Blacksmithing was W. W. Kemper's 

trade; and this he maintained as he moved from Plum Grove 

to Brainerd, and then to Potwin. George M. Daffron's skills 

are unknown at Plum Grove, but he managed a general store in 

Potwin. (Detailed references to the above may be found in 

Chapters 3-6.) 

After the bUilding of the Rock Island Railroad 

through Whitewater in iSS7, a number of Brainerd residents 

moved west to the town with two railroads. Some of these 

persons kept their former occupations--others made changes. 

Peter Ashenfelter operated a drug store and advised in mat­

ters of law while residing in Brainerd; however, after 

arriving in Whitewater, he only practiced law. Another who 

changed his trade was Thomas J. Whiteside. He managed both 

a livery barn and a general store in Brainerd, but in White­
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water he kept only his general store. Among those who moved 

but did not change occupations were G. W. Neal, hardware 

dealer; George Roach and G. W. Penner, general store opera­

tor&; and E. S. Raymond, druggist. Although Brainerd and 

Whitewater had railroads, there was still a need for carri­

ages; consequently, Mr. Kelly continued to provide this ser­

vice. Since more news was generated in a growing town, R. 

P. Morrison moved his newspaper pUblishing equipment from 

Brainerd to Whitewater. Most banking business eXists where 

there are other businesses to serve, as well as the general 

public. The McLain family members, A. H., A. H., Jr., and 

E. S., moved their bank business from Brainerd to the grow­

ing town site. (Refer to Chapters 4 and 5 for more infor­

mation. ) 

Not all persons were attracted to Whitewater. J. 

Warren McLain moved his harness shop from Brainerd to Pot­

win, then relocated in El Dorado. W. W. Kemper left 

Brainerd to establish his blacksmith shop in Potwin. 

(Refer to Chapters 4 and 6.) 

With the reorganization of the bank in Whitewater 

in 1891. J. D. Joseph left his profession as the principal 

of the Potwin school to become cashier in the Whitewater 

bank. (Refer to Chapter 6.) 



CONCLUSION 

On the basis of evidence that has been gathered, we 

can account for an increase and a decrease of population 

frompfie town to another in northwest Butler County. The 

hypothesis of the study was that these people moved to the 

town which had the most to offer in regard to transportation, 

and these facilities were wholly dominated by the advancing 

railroad systems. The actual movement of people has been 

traced, where possible, and recorded in the preceding chap­

ters. This evidence would tend to indicate that there was a 

migration from Plum Grove to Brainerd, and from Brainerd to 

Whitewater as a result of two different railroad building 

programs. Very little evidence was found to indicate any 

strong attraction to Potwin with its one railroad system. 

The people of Plum Grove had some expectations of a 

railroad when the California - Fort Smith Railroad surveyed 

the west edge of theitown site in 1871. However, this rail­

road was never built. The 1871 decision of the California ­

Fort Smith Railroad not to build at all, and a later deci­

sion, in 1885, of the Missouri Pacific Railroad to build 

through Brainerd rather than Plum Grove, had a significant 

effect upon the population of Plum Grove. The town dimin~ 

ished in size. Four families have been traced from Plum 

Grove to Brainerd, two families have been traced from Plum 

Grove to Potwin, and one additional family has been traced 
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from Plum Grove to El Dorado. It would seem that they moved 

their businesses to where rail access would aid the trans­

portation of commodities. 

No evidence has been found as to why the California ­

Fort Smith Railroad did not build through Plum Grove or why 

the Missouri Pacific Railroad built three miles south of the 

Plum Grove town site through the future towns of potwin and 

Brainerd. 

After the arrival of the Missouri Pacific Railroad 

in June of 1885 at the future town site of Brainerd, suffi­

cient numbers of people settled on the site to incorporate 

as a town on November 14, 1885, the population peaking at 

500 in early 1887. Besides the former proprietors of Plum 

Grove, other people, anticipating a thriving community, 

moved to the new town. News items in periodicals gave evi­

dence that the Chicago Kansas and Nebraska Railroad would 

build from Topeka, Kansas, to Wichita, Kansas. Since this 

line touched the town of Brainerd, it gave the feeling of 

optimism, and probably accounted for the influx of popula­

tion during the yeafs of 1886 and 1887. Railroad records or 

minutes of meetings as to why the Chicago Kansas and Nebraska 

Railroad was built three miles west of Brainerd have not been 

found. 

In 1887, 500 persons lived in Brainerd. By 1890, 

the population had dropped to 203, and the year 1900 found 

80 persons remaining in Brainerd. This indicates that maybe 
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people moved to the town which might offer more in theoret­

ical benefits by having two railroads instead of one rail ­

road system. 

The first Chicago Kansas and Nebraska Railroad 

arrived in Whitewater in August of 1887. It gave Whitewater 

rail service to Topeka, Wichita, El Dorado, and McPherson; 

that is, Whitewater residents could now travel by rail to 

and from larger cities located north, east, south, and west 

of the town itself. This event marks the growth of one town 

and the demise of Brainerd. Eleven families can be traced 

from Brainerd to Whitewater; two families moved from Brain­

erd to Potwin; and one family moved from Brainerd to El 

Dorado. Whitewater, by 1890, had a population of 206, and 

ten years later recorded 240. 

Potwin gained several residents during the exodus of 

population from Brainerd; two families were traced. Pot­

win's greater attraction could not be linked directly to 

railroad facilities. One family could be traced from Potwin 

to ~~itewater. Of the four towns in northwest Butler County, 

Potwin is the only town where virtually no evidence could be 

found to trace or support the hypothesis that people moved 

to the town which had the most to offer in regard to trans­

portation facilities. 

Following are several factors which limited the 

study: early school records were missing; no evidence of 
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early day city records could be found; the tracing of people 

by checking tombstones was virtually fruitless; railroad 

records or minutes of meetings could not be found; and the 

Kansas State Historical Society could not provide much 

assistance in providing the material needed. 
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APPENDIX 

Lord Alfred Harrison and Lord Scu"lly, both English 

sUbjects, owned much land in Milton Township. Houses of a 

like pattern were placed on eacy quarter and rented or . 

leased out. Scully land was leased for cash, the lessee 

paying the taxes. 

In 1870, Charles Potwin, a land dealer, bought 

34,683 acres of land in Butler County and Marion County from 

the Leavenworth, Lawrence and Galveston Railroad Company. 

It should be noted at this time that about all of the timber 

land and some of the choicest bottom land was owned by non­

residents. In Plum Grove Township, all the odd-numbered 

sections, when not previously claimed, were included in the 

Santa Fe Land Grant. QUite a large amount of the best land 

along the streams was claimed by Lawrence and Potwin, who 

purchased it with railroad and agricultural college script. 

Frederic Remington came to Butler County to visit a 

friend, Robert Camp, in 1883; and in April of that year, 

bought a "ranch" of 320 acres. Mr. Remington bought the 

southeast quarter of Section 26 and the southwest quarter of 

Section 25 in Fairmount Township. This land is two miles 

north and one mile west of Plum Grove. The land was deeded 

on February 13, 1884. 1 He raised sheep, cattle, and horses 

1Original deed. Frederic Remington Library, Brain­
erd. 
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while in Butler County and hired Billy Kerr as his ranch 

hand. Mr. Remington sponsored boxing matches which were 

held on his ranch and attended by men from the surrounding 

area. 2 After three years in the area, Mr. Remington left 

and became famous for his painting of the cowboy and Indian, 

and scenes of the "wild and woolly Wes t. lI 

Fig. 78 - Boxing Match. This is much like those 
held on the Remington Ranch, on the old school 
grounds in Whitewater, Kansas, in 1905. This 
corner later was the site of the Zuercher 
Hatchery. 

In 1873, twelve delegates were sent from Russian, 

Polish, and German Mennonite communities to secure a new 

2Statement by Esther Davis, personal interview. 



homeland. Among these twelve delegates was Leonard SUder­

man from Russia, one of the founders of the Emmaus Mennonite 

Church, which is still located three miles west of the Plum 

Grove town site. The delegates went first to Manitoba, 

Canada, and then through the prairie states of the United 

States. One reason for settling in Kansas was the fertility 

of the land, and another was that in Kansas they could set­

tle in compact groups since here the railroads had the 

alternate sections of land to sell. The United States Gov­

ernment had given the railroads the privilege of selling 

every other section of land along the railroad right-of-way 

for about twenty miles on either side of the tracks. 

The railroa~ companies furnished the twelve dele­

gates free transportation, not only rail but also ship pass­

age, and wagons with drivers to look over the land. The 

land was cheap--$5 per acre being an average price to pay. 

Few Mennonites have sold their land since settling in the 

area. Both Prussian and Swiss Mennonites located in Milton 

and Plum Grove Townships, bUilding large houses and barns, 

raising crops as well as livestock and putting out orchards. 

Each group built and maintains its own church. 3 

Charles Birch was born on October 4, 1854, reared 

and educated in Liverpool, England, and came to the. United 

3Statement by John Schmidt, personal interview. 
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in the Fall of 1882, locating on Section 14 in Milton Town­

ship. He became a horse dealer and made a specialty of 

breeding fine horses. 

Amos Adams, a Civil War veteran and a cousin of 

Joseph H. Adams, and his wife, Nancy, came to Plum Grove 

Township in 1886, settling on the northwest quarter of Sec­

tion 30. Mr. Adams lived there until his death in April of 

1894. Mrs. Adams died on September 9, 1914, in El Dorado. 

A	 son, J. B. Adams, became a prominent political and finan­

4cial figure in Butler County. 

Irwin Howe, farmer and stock raiser, was born in 

Marshall County, Virginia, in 18 45, on December 29. As a 

child, he moved to Monroe County, Iowa, until 1873, when he 

became a resident of Plum Grove Township, settling on Sec­

tion 2. He married in Iowa; from this union carne three 

children: George, Flora, and Rose Mae. The Howe family 

were members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. 5 

Charles Coppings placed his homestead entry on the 

southwest quarter of Section 26 in the spring of 1871, which 

was the last vacant government land in Plum Grove Township. 

Of the original homesteaders, John H. Poffinbarger, 

4Mooney, Ope cit., p. 40. 

5A• T. Andreas, History of the State of Kansas
 
(Chicago: A. J. Cox & Comp.)
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a Civil War veteran, took his claim in 1870 and lived the 

longest on his homestead, the southwest quarter of Section 

14 in Plum Grove Township.6 

William I. Joseph, farmer and stock raiser, was born 

in Tyler County, West Virginia, on the 14th of February, 

1835. He came to Kansas with his father, Waitman F. Joseph, 

in the spring of 1871, settling on Section 19 in Milton 

Township, but his post office was Plum Grove. Mr. Joseph 

was married in West Virginia to Miss L. A. Perkins, and they 

had four children: Flora, George, Alice, and Rufus. He was 

active in school affairs. For several years, he served as a 

Justice of the Peace. 7 

6Mooney, op. oit., p. 748.
 

7Mooney, op. oit., pp. 185 and 561.
 


